IN THE IOWA SUPREME COURT SUPREME COURT NO. 17-1169

WINGER CONTRACTING COMPANY,

Plaintiff-Appellant

V.

CARGILL, INCORPORATED,

Defendant-Appellee.

TRACER CONSTRUCTION, LLC,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

V.

CARGILL, INCORPORATED,

Defendant-Appellee,

and

WINGER CONTRACTING COMPANY, PETERSON CONTRACTORS, INC., AMERICAN PIPING GROUP, TRI-CITY ELECTRIC COMPANY, TAI SPECIALTY CONSTRUCTION, INC.,

Defendants-Appellants,

APPEAL FROM IOWA DISTRICT COURT MONROE COUNTY

THE HONORABLE JOHN TELLEN, JUDGE

TRACER CONSTRUCTION, LLC – JOINDER AND APPELLANT FINAL BRIEF

JOHN F. FATINO, fatino@whitfieldlaw.com ERIK S. FISK, fisk@whitfieldlaw.com WHITFIELD & EDDY, P.L.C.

600 Walnut Street, Suite 2000

STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

I. TRACER HEREBY JOINS THOSE ARGUMENTS RAISED BY WINGER IN ITS APPELLATE BRIEF, POINT HEADINGS I THROUGH V INCLUSIVE, AS APPLIED TO TRACER, AND AS IF SET FORTH FULLY HEREIN.

Tracer joins in authorities cited in Winger Contracting Company's Appellate Brief and Argument.

II. ABSENT EXPRESS STATEMENT OF LEGISLATIVE INTENTION OTHERWISE, THE MINOR CHANGES TO IOWA CODE CHAPTER 572 DID NOT ABROGATE THE COMMON LAW PRINCIPLES OF AGENCY, JOINT VENTURE, AND FRAUD RELIED UPON BY THE LIEN CLAIMANTS.

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)

In re Estate of Workman, 903 N.W.2d 170 (Iowa 2017)

Johnson Propane, Heating & Cooling, Inc. v. Iowa Dep't of Transp., 891 N.W.2d 220 (Iowa 2017)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(3) (2017)

Walker v. Gribble, 689 N.W.2d 104 (Iowa 2004)

Lloyd v. Drake Univ., 686 N.W.2d 225 (Iowa 2004)

Mason v. Vision Iowa Bd., 700 N.W.2d 349 (Iowa 2005)

Norwest Credit, Inc. v. City of Davenport, 626 N.W.2d 153 (Iowa 2001)

IOWA CODE ch. 572 (2017)

Freeman v. Grain Processing Corp., 848 N.W.2d 58 (Iowa 2014), cert. denied 135 S. Ct. 712 (2014)

IOWA CODE § 572.1(8) (2017)

IOWA CODE § 572.1

III. EVEN IF THE DISTRICT COURT'S RULING THAT THE AMENDMENTS TO CHAPTER 572 ABROGATED THE ESTABLISHED COMMON LAW OF AGENCY, THE LIEN CLAIMANTS' LIENS WOULD STILL ATTACH TO THE LEASEHOLD INTEREST IN THE SUBJECT PROPERTY AND THE DISTRICT COURT WOULD HAVE AUTHORITY TO ORDER A SEPARATE SALE FOR THE IMPROVEMENTS AND THE LAND.

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)

Coen & Conway v. Scott Cnty. Sav. Bank, 218 N.W. 325 (1928)

IOWA CODE § 572.6 (2017)

Lane-Moore Lumber Co. v. Koppenburg, 215 N.W. 637 (Iowa 1927)

IOWA CODE § 572.21 (2017)

IOWA CODE § 572.21(1) (2017)

IOWA CODE § 572.1 (2017)

IV. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED WHEN IT RULED PREMATURELY AND BEYOND THE SCOPE OF THE CASE MANAGEMENT ORDER THAT NO PARTY HAD SUBMITTED THE ISSUE OF WHETHER IT "OTHERWISE IMPROVED" THE REAL ESTATE PURSUANT TO IOWA CODE SECTION 572.2(1).

Meier v. Senecaut, 641 N.W.2d 532 (Iowa 2002)

IOWA CODE § 572.2 (2017)

Iowa R. Civ. P. 1.981(8) (2017)

IOWA CODE ch. 572

IOWA CODE § 572.2(1) (2017)

ROUTING STATEMENT

Because this case presents substantial issues of first impression, fundamental and urgent issues of broad public importance requiring prompt or ultimate determination by the Supreme Court, and substantial questions of enunciating or changing legal principles, Appellant, Tracer Construction, LLC, ("Tracer") maintains it should be retained by the Iowa Supreme Court. Iowa R. App. P. 6.1101(2)(c), (d), and (f).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

This case involves an interlocutory appeal of the Iowa District Court for Monroe County, Iowa Specialty Business Court's ("District Court") ruling on combined partial motions for summary judgment ("PMSJ Ruling"). (PMSJ Ruling 04/20/2017)(App. 1618-1659). There were two mechanic's lien foreclosure actions consolidated at least for purposes of discovery and administration by the District Court. (Order 07/28/2016)(App. 201-206). The District Court found that "both of these pending actions are for foreclosure pertaining to all or part of the property in question, result from all or part of the same contractual relationship between the parties, and concern the alleged failure to pay on or more of the labor and material providers. *Id.* at 2 (App. 202). Subsequent to the consolidation, Winger Construction Company

("Winger") filed a motion for partial summary judgment with regard to the specific issue of the priority of the mechanic's liens over rights of the leasemortgage that Cargill, Incorporated ("Cargill") purchased from HF Clor-Alkali, LLC ("HFCA")/US Bank. (Winger MPSJ filings 02/08/2017)(App. 684-994). Thereafter, the various mechanic's lienholders¹, including Tracer, made their own filings with regard to the same issue and/or joined in Winger's filings, including replies and joinders. (Tracer Joinder Winger MPSJ 02/13/2017; Tracer's Reply 03/27/2017)(App. 995-1022; 1549-1552). In addition to resisting the motions for partial summary judgment, Cargill filed cross-motion for summary judgment. (Cargill's Cross MSJ 03/15/2017)(App. 1266-1548). The District Court held that none of the mechanic's lienholders liens, including Appellant Lienholders liens, attached to Cargill's fee interest in the land identified in the liens. (PMSJ Ruling at 41)(App. 1658). Subsequent motions to reconsider filed by the mechanic's lienholders, including Tracer, were denied. (Tracer's Mot. Reconsider

_

¹ As used herein Appellant Lienholders refers to Winger, Tracer, and Peterson Contractors, Inc. ("PCI"), American Piping Group ("APG"), Ameritrack Rail ("Ameritrack"), TAI Specialty Construction Company ("TAI"), and Tri-City Electric Company ("Tri-City"). Miller Insulation, Gethmann Construction Company, Inc., and Carl A. Nelson & Company have dismissed their respective appeals in this matter.

05/22/2017; Comb. Order re Motions to Reconsider 06/30/2017)(App. 1705-1708; 1781-1807). This appeal follows.

B. Course of Proceedings

Winger filed Monroe County Case No. EQEQ009184 on September 8, 2015; and Tracer filed Monroe County Case No. EQEQ009228 on May 12, 2016. (Winger Petition 09/08/2015; Tracer Petition 05/12/2016)(App. 215-420; 17-65). Tracer intervened in EQEQ009184 and filed a cross-claim to foreclose mechanic's lien. (Tracer Mot. Intervene/Cross-Claim 05/11/2016; Order 06/01/2016)(App. 421-453; 454-455). Cargill answered Tracer's crossclaim to foreclose Tracer's mechanic's lien generally denying the allegations and asserted affirmative defenses. (Cargill's Answer 07/11/2016)(App. 536-Subsequently the cases were consolidated in the District Court's 584). "Ruling and Order on Winger Contracting Company's Motion for Consolidation and Transfer," dated July 28, 2016. (Order 07/28/2016)(App. 662-667). The two cases were consolidated into EQEQ009184 (Superv. Order 9/8/2016)(App. 677-679).

In an effort to streamline disposition of the various claims, on September 12, 2016, the District Court entered a Case Management Order ("CMO") providing as follows:

3. Early Adjudication: The parties agreed and the court concurs that an early determination of the priority of the lienholders Iowa Code Chapter 572 mechanics liens in relation to any claimed mortgage or security interest held by Cargill, Inc. is a core threshold issue and should be adjudicated as soon as practical.

(CMO 09/12/2016 at 2)(App. 681). In furtherance of this goal, the District Court directed the parties to use the following procedure to bring the issue before the District Court:

- **(b)** Limited Discovery: Counsel for plaintiffs Winger and Tracer, in consultation with counsel for all lienholders, will conduct discovery limited to the facts surrounding the collateral held by Cargill originating from US Bank's Security Agreement and line of credit with HFCA, the contractual relationship between Cargill and HFCA, and the contractual relationship between HFCA and US Bank to provide an evidentiary basis for a motion for summary judgment regarding the primary and superiority of the rights granted the mechanics lienholders by Iowa Code Chapter 572 in relation to the security interest or mortgage assigned to Cargill, Inc. by US Bank.
- (c) Motion for Partial Summary Judgment: By February 15, 2017, counsel for Winger and Tracer, in consultation with counsel for all lienholders will prepare and move for partial summary judgment on the issue of the priority of the parties mechanics liens in relation to the collateral held by Cargill as described above. Notwithstanding the above, each party may, at is option, file a separate motion for summary judgment.

Id. at 2-3 (App. 681-682)

Consistent with the schedule set forth in the CMO, Winger filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on February 8, 2017, seeking a

judgment from the District Court that the general contractor and subcontractor mechanic's liens attached to Cargill's fee interest in its real property and such liens were also superior to Cargill's mortgage liens in the improvements on the real property. (Winger's MPSJ filings 02/08/2017)(App. 689-994). Tracer filed its supplemental motion for partial summary judgment on February 13, 2017, in which it joined in Winger's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and brief, and pursuant to the CMA provided additional undisputed facts and supporting exhibit. (Tracer Joinder PMSJ filings 02/13/2017)(App. 995-1022). On February 24, 2017, Lemartec joined Winger's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and further moved for partial summary judgment on the basis that Lemartec commenced work on the project before the U.S. Bank construction mortgage lien (which was subsequently assigned to Cargill) was filed. (Lemartec Joinder & MPSJ filings 02/24/2017)(App. $1064-1230)^2$

On March 15, 2017, Cargill filed a joint Resistance to Winger's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Lemartec's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Against Winger

² The appellant mechanic's lienholders joined in Winger's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment. Although not mentioned individually herein, the joinders are included in the Appendix. (App. 1023-1073, 1237-1265).

and Cross-Motion for Partial Summary Judgment Against Lemartec with a Memorandum and Statement of Additional Facts in Response to Winger's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment and Statement of Additional Facts in Response to Lemartec's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on March 15, 2017 (hereafter collectively referred to as "Resistance and Cross-Motion"). (Cargill's Resistance & Cross MSJ filings 03/15/2017)(App. 1266-1548).

On March 27, 2017, Tracer filed a Reply to Cargill's Resistance and Cross Motion. (Tracer's Reply 03/27/2017)(App. 1549-1552). On March 29, 2017, Winger filed a Reply Brief to Cargill's Resistance and Cross-Motion. (Winger's Reply w/ Exhs. 03/29/2017)(App. 1558-1590). Cargill filed a Sur-Reply to the Winger and Tracer Reply Briefs on April 7, 2017. (Cargill Sur-Reply 04/07/2017)(App. 1610-1617).

The District Court entered a Combined Ruling on Motions for Summary Judgment on April 20, 2017. (PMSJ Ruling)(App. 1618-1659). The District Court denied the combined motions for summary judgment as to the mechanic's lienholders, except Lemartec, finding Cargill was entitled to summary judgment that "its Leasehold Mortgage takes priority over all mechanic's liens premised on work commenced after August 29, 2013." *Id.* at 38, 40-41 (App. 1655, 1657-1658). The District Court held in part that "the subsequent revisions to Iowa Code chapter 572 supersede a mechanic's lien

attaching to a lessor's fee interest under the agency principles enunciated in *Romp* and *Stroh*. *Id*. at 25 (App. 1642). Winger filed a Motion to Reconsider on May 5, 2017, requesting the District Court reconsider and find the mechanic's lienholders' liens superior to the leasehold mortgage of Cargill. (Winger Mot. Reconsider 05/05/2017)(App. 1660-1676).

Tracer filed its Motion to Reconsider on May 22, 2017. (Tracer Mot. Reconsider 05/22/2017)(App. 1705-1708).³ Tracer filed the motion to reconsider as the District Court did not rule on the issue of the lien claimants' rights to the lien attaching to the leasehold as set forth in Iowa Code sections 572.6 and/or 572.21(1). *Id.* at 2-3 (App. 1706-1707). Further, that the District Court failed to rule on the issue of priority of the mechanic's lienholders regardless of the superiority of Cargill's leasehold mortgage such that they could maintain their foreclosure actions on improvements to be sold at sheriff sale. Id. at 2 (App. 1706). Ameritrack, APG, TAI, Tri-City, Peterson, and Miller also filed motions to reconsider on May 22, 2017. (App. 1677-1700). On June 5, 2017, Cargill filed a "Combined Response to Motions to Reconsider." (Cargill's Comb. Resp. Mot. Reconsider 06/05/2017)(App. 1712-1743).

³ Other mechanic's lienholders also filed Motions to Reconsider. (App. 1701-1704, 1709-1711).

Winger filed a Reply to Cargill's resistance to the motion to reconsider on June 11, 2017. (Winger Reply to Resist. Mot. Reconsider 06/11/2017)(App. 1744-1750). Ameritrack, APG, TAI, Tri-City, Peterson, and Tracer each filed a Reply to Cargill's resistance to the motion to reconsider on June 16, 2016. (Replies to Resist. Mot. Reconsider)(App. 1751-1771). Tracer's Reply included joinders to the mechanic's lienholders' motions to reconsider and replies to Cargill's resistance. (App. 1768-1771). Although Cargill filed a Sur-Reply to the Reply Briefs filed in Support of Motions to Reconsider on June 20, 2017, upon motion by PCI, the Sur-Reply was stricken by the District Court as improper. (Order re Mot. Strike Sur-Reply 06/30/2017)(App. 1812-1814).

On June 30 2017, the District Court filed its combined ruling denying all the motions to reconsider ("Ruling on Motions to Reconsider"). (Ruling on Motions to Reconsider 06/30/2017)(App. 1781-1807). Winger filed its Notice of Appeal on July 19, 2017. (Winger Notice of Appeal)(App. 1815-1821). Tracer filed its Notice of Appeal on July 28, 2017.⁴ (Tracer Notice of Appeal)(App. 1827-1833).

_

⁴ The other appellant mechanic's lienholders also filed notices of appeal. (App. 1822-1826, 1834-1839).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The following facts were undisputed in the record before the District Court. Chiefly, the record shows that Cargill and HFCA entered into a long-term (at least 10 year) business arrangement punctuated by myriad purportedly arms' length transactions, with an expectation of ongoing mutual benefit. (Winger PMSJ - Exs.1, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, & 9; Cargill Appendix – Ex. E) (App. 695-747, 774-813, 814-821, 822-835, 836-868, 869-878, 926-931; 1528-1540). Cargill owns certain real property in Eddyville, Iowa. (Cargill Answer 07/11/2016 at 2-4; PMSJ Ruling at 3)(App. 537-539; 1620). HFCA is in the business of chemical production and manufacturing. *See, e.g.* Winger PMSJ - Ex.1 at 2, Ex. 3 at 2, Ex. 4 at 2, Ex. 5 at 2, Ex. 6 at 2, Ex. 7 at 2, & Ex. 9 at 3 (App. 696, 775, 815, 823, 837, 870, 928).

Pertinent to the instant matter, Cargill entered into a Lease Agreement dated June 24, 2013, with HFCA to allow HFCA to construct a chlor-alkali manufacturing facility (hereinafter "the Facility") on the Eddyville property. (Winger PMSJ Ex. 1)(App. 695-747). The Lease Agreement granted HFCA a leasehold interest in the land for a period of fifty years at a rent of \$12,000 per year, and, as additional rent, all other sums of money required to be paid by HFCA to Cargill under the terms of the Lease. (Ex. 1, §3.01, §4.01)(App. 702, 703).

On July 23, 2013, a Memorandum of Lease was duly recorded with the Monroe County, Iowa Recorder in Book 2013, Page 1084. (Cargill Resistance and Cross MSJ - Ex. A)(App. 1319-1326). The Memorandum of Lease was a seven-page document that referenced only the lease term of 50 years, but made only general reference to another, much more detailed "Lease Agreement" (the "Unrecorded Lease Agreement") that was not filed of record. *Id.* None of the other substantive terms of the lease, or the various "Ancillary Agreements" (discussed in detail below) were recorded or otherwise provided notice to third parties of the intimate details of the Cargill/HFCA joint venture.

The Unrecorded Lease Agreement defined "Land" as the legal description of the Cargill-owned parcels on which HFCA held the leasehold interest to build a Facility. (Winger PMSJ - Ex. 1, §1.01(V))(App. 699). The Unrecorded Lease Agreement defined "all other sums of money" HFCA was required to pay Cargill as rent were for reimbursement of Cargill's costs for the following:

- (1) under Section 2.03, for security services for the Facility (*see also* Site Security Services Agreement (Winger PMSJ Ex. 7)(App. 869-878));
- (2) under Article VII, reimbursement for property taxes, use taxes and assessments levied on the Land or Facility; and

(3) under §12.04, if HFCA failed to get insurance and Cargill was forced to, Cargill's costs for insurance.

(Winger PMSJ – Ex. 1, §2.03, Art. VII, §12.04)(App. 702, 707-708, 710).

Under the Unrecorded Lease Agreement, HFCA had an unrestricted right to "encumber, hypothecate, assign, or mortgage Lessee's Estate to a Secured Creditor..." (Winger PMSJ - Ex. 1, §23.06)(App. 725). Section 23.05 prohibited HFCA from allowing mechanic's liens to be filed against the Premises. (Winger PMSJ - Ex. 1, §23.05)(App. 725). If liens were filed, and Cargill incurred expenses in discharging them, HFCA was required to reimburse Cargill for these costs. *Id*.

No labor or material were furnished by Tracer or any of the lienholders prior to the date the Memorandum of Lease was recorded. (Tracer Mot. Intervene – Ex. 1)(App. 423-446). Tracer furnished material beginning September 15, 2015. *Id.* at 3 (App. 425).

Under the Unrecorded Lease Agreement: "All additions, alterations and improvements to the Land made from time to time over the Term, including, without limitation, the Facility, the Improvements and all of Lessee's Property located therein, shall be the property of Lessee and Lessee shall have title to all such additional, alterations and improvements, subject to the provisions of Article XIX herein." (Winger PMSJ – Ex. 1, §10.01)(App. 709).

Article XIX of the Unrecorded Lease Agreement, provides, in part:

At the termination of this Lease or expiration of the Term, Lessee shall surrender possession of the Land to Cargill in good order and in safe condition and repair, except for ordinary wear and tear. Unless otherwise approved by Cargill in writing, Lessee shall have the obligation, as soon as commercially practicable after the expiration or earlier termination of this Lease, to remove any and all Improvements and Lessee's Property or other improvements of any nature and kind from the Land, and provided that the portion of the Land to which such items may have been affixed shall be restored by Lessee to substantially the condition existing on the Effective Date.

(Winger PMSJ - Ex. 1, §19.01)(App. 717-718).

Under the Unrecorded Lease Agreement, Cargill and HFCA expressly disclaimed any partnership, joint venture or association between them. (Winger PMSJ - Ex. 1, §22.14)(App. 722).

The Unrecorded Lease Agreement references and incorporates six "Ancillary Agreements," none of which were recorded or otherwise provided notice to any third parties of the Cargill/HFCA joint venture. The Unrecorded Ancillary Agreements are the Site Security Services Agreement, the Easement Agreements, the Chemical Purchase and Supply Agreement, the Product Supply Agreement (between Cargill and Harris & Ford, LLC), the Process Water Service Agreement, and the Process Waste Water Service Agreement." (Winger PMSJ - Ex. 1, §1.01(B)(App. 696); *see also* Winger PMSJ - Exs. 3, 4, 5, 6 and 7 (App. 774-814, 814-821, 822-835, 836-868, 869-878). Section

3.02(g) of the Unrecorded Lease Agreement states that a condition precedent to the Lease was that "the parties will have entered into all of the [Unrecorded] Ancillary Agreements satisfactory to each, in its sole discretion." (Winger PMSJ - Ex. 1, §3.02(g))(App. 703). The Unrecorded Lease Agreement provides for termination upon breach of any obligation, breach of any Unrecorded "Ancillary Agreement," or in the event a party becomes insolvent. (Winger PMSJ - Ex. 1, §20.01)(App. 718).

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