IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

NO. 17-1169

WINGER CONTRACTING COMPANY Plaintiff-Appellant

VS.

CARGILL, INCORPORATED, ET AL. Defendant-Appellee

TRACER CONSTRUCTION, LLC Plaintiff-Appellant

v.

CARGILL, INCORPORATED, ET AL. Defendant-Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR MONROE COUNTY THE HONORABLE JOHN TELLEEN MONROE COUNTY NOS. EQEQ 009184 & EQEQ 009228

DEFENDANT-APPELLEE CARGILL, INCORPORATED'S FINAL BRIEF

SAMUEL E. JONES AT0009821 DANA L. OXLEY AT0005917 JARED S. ADAM AT0013011

SHUTTLEWORTH & INGERSOLL, PLC

115 3rd Street SE, Suite 500 Cedar Rapids, IA 52401 Phone: (319) 365-9461 Fax: (319) 365-8443

E-mail: <u>sej@shuttleworthlaw.com</u>

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

Argument

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY CONSTRUED THE LEGISLATIVE AMENDMENTS IN IOWA CODE CHAPTER 572 TO HOLD THE MECHANIC'S LIENS ATTACHED TO HFCA'S INTERESTS ONLY, I.E., THE FACILITY AND HFCA'S LEASEHOLD INTEREST IN THE REAL PROPERTY. ABSENT A CONTRACT WITH CARGILL, AS THE OWNER, THE LIENS DO NOT ATTACH TO CARGILL'S FEE INTEREST.

A. Error preservation.

Cargill agrees this issue was properly preserved.

B. Scope and standard of review.

Cargill agrees the standard of review is for errors at law.

C. Argument

Appellants urge this Court to ignore the plain language of, and intentional legislative amendments to, Iowa Code Chapter 572 and find their mechanic's liens attach to Cargill's fee interest in the land upon which HFCA's Facility was constructed. Appellants urge the Court to ignore statutory amendments based only on policy arguments and vague language contained in the "Explanation" attached to the Introduction of the Bill that made those revisions.

Chapter 572 dictates that the mechanic's liens attach only to HFCA's Facility and its leasehold interest in the land and not Cargill's fee interest.

1. As a lessee, HFCA has only a Leasehold Interest in the real property and has no authority to impair the fee interest.

It is important to understand the interests held by the parties in considering the property to which Appellants' mechanic's liens attach. Cargill owns the fee interest to the real property upon which the HFCA Facility was constructed. Cargill granted HFCA a leasehold interest in its land, which is "an estate carved out of the fee-simple title." *Queal Lumber Co. v. Lipman*, 200 Iowa 1376, 206 N.W. 627, 628 (1925). When a lessee enters into a contract for improvements, "[i]t is too elementary to need discussion that the lien claimants cannot acquire a greater interest in the real estate than that held by the lessee." *Id*.

Under the Lease Agreement, HFCA owns the Facility, including "all buildings, fixtures, structures, improvements" purchased or constructed by HFCA. The Lease Agreement expressly provided that any additions, alterations, and improvements are the property of HFCA, giving HFCA title to such additions, alterations, and improvements. Upon termination, the Lease Agreement requires HFCA to remove any and all Improvements and its Property.

No one disputes that under the plain terms of the Lease Agreement, Cargill owns the real property in fee, HFCA has a leasehold interest in the real property for a period of fifty years, and HFCA has all title and ownership of the Facility.

2. Because Appellants had no contract with Cargill, their liens attach only to the Facility and HFCA's leasehold interest.

Iowa Code Section 572.2 identifies the property to which a mechanic's lien attaches:

Every person who furnishes any material or labor for, or performs any labor upon, any building or land for improvement, alteration, or repair thereof, including those engaged in the construction or repair of any work of internal or external improvement, and those engaged in grading, sodding, installing nursery stock, landscaping, sidewalk building, fencing on any land or lot, by virtue of any contract with the owner, owner-builder, general contractor, or subcontractor shall have a lien upon such building or improvement, and land belonging to the owner on which the same is situated or upon the land or lot so graded, landscaped, fenced, or otherwise improved, altered, or repaired, to secure payment for the material or labor furnished or labor performed.

Iowa Code § 572.2(1)(2017) (emphasis added). The Code specifically defines "owner" as "the legal or equitable titleholder of record." Iowa Code § 572.1(8) (2017).

Thus, (1) a person who provides material or labor, (2) on a building, (3) by virtue of a contract with the owner, owner-builder, contractor, or subcontractor, (4) is entitled to a lien on the building or improvement for which the work was provided, (5) as well as a lien on the land belonging to the owner. The statute makes a distinction between a lien on the building or improvement for which the material or labor was provided, and a lien on the underlying land on which the building or improvement sits.

Appellants argue their liens should extend to Cargill's fee interest in the land because HFCA, as the lessee of Cargill's land, made improvements that benefit Cargill as the lessor. The plain language of the statute following the legislature's amendments does not support this construction.

Section 572.2(1) is set up to provide a mechanic's lien on the building or improvements for which the supplier provides labor or material pursuant to a contract with the owner, owner-builder, general contractor or subcontractor. The owner in this scenario is HFCA, which owns the Facility for which the Appellants provided material and labor pursuant to contracts with HFCA's general contractor. Section 572.2(1) then provides that the lien extends to "land belonging to the owner upon which the same is situated". §572.2(1). The owner, HFCA, has a leasehold interest in the land upon which the Facility is situated. Thus, the Appellants also have a lien on HFCA's leasehold interest in the land, as the District Court found.

But that lien does not extend to Cargill's fee interest in the land because none of the Appellants provided labor or material pursuant to a contract with Cargill, or Cargill's general contractor or subcontractor. In the context of leased land, the Supreme Court of Iowa has "repeatedly held that without a contract with the owner no lien [on the land] can be maintained." *Queal Lumber Co.*, 206 N.W. at 628-29 (citing *Redman v. Williamson*, 2 Iowa 488, 489 (1856); *Wilkins v.*

Litchfield, 69 Iowa, 465, 29 N.W. 447 (1886); Carney v. Cook, 80 Iowa, 747, 45 N.W. 919 (1890); Littleton Sav. Bank v. Osceola Land Co., 76 Iowa, 660, 39 N.W. 201 (1888); Templin v. Chicago, B. & P. Ry. Co., 73 Iowa, 548, 35 N.W. 634 (1887)). Appellants admit they "did not have a direct contract with Cargill, the landowner." (Winger Br. 19.) Recognizing the need to have a contract with the owner of the land, Appellants rely solely on an alleged agency relationship between HFCA and Cargill based on their relationship as lessor/lessee to assert that Appellants had a contract with Cargill through its alleged agent, HFCA.

As discussed below in Section II, the lessor/lessee relationship between Cargill and HFCA would not meet the requirements of the *Romp* and *Stroh* cases. However, given recent changes to Iowa Code Chapter 572, a lessor/lessee relationship is no longer sufficient to allow a mechanic's lien to attach to land in favor of a subcontractor who contracts only with a lessee.

3. The legislative amendments removing "owner's agent" from § 572.2(1) and redefining "owner" in § 572.1(8) must be given effect.

"The law governing mechanic's liens is rooted in statute, for the common law provided no such protection for persons who improve real property." *Clemens Graf Droste Zu Vischering v. Kading*, 368 N.W.2d 702, 708-12 (Iowa 1985).

While "mechanic's liens stem from principles of equity which require paying for work done or materials delivered[,] ... the lien itself is purely statutory in nature,

dependent solely on statutory authority for its existence." *Baumhoefener Nursery, Inc. v. A & D P'ship, II*, 618 N.W.2d 363, 366 (Iowa 2000) (internal citations and marks omitted). It is therefore important to consider closely the language used, and revisions made, by the legislature.

"[I]t is not the province of the court to speculate as to probable legislative intent without regard to the wording used in the statute, and any determination must be based upon what the legislature actually said, rather than what it might or should have said." *Marcus v. Young*, 538 N.W.2d 285, 289 (Iowa 1995). The Court "cannot, under the guise of construction, enlarge or otherwise change the terms of a statute as the legislature adopted it." *Id.* The Court is also guided by the "well-established rules of statutory construction that legislative intent is expressed by omission as well as by inclusion, and the express mention of one thing implies the exclusion of others not so mentioned. " *Id.*

Chapter 572 was amended in 2007 and again in 2012. Prior to 2007, Section 572.2(1) provided: "Every person who shall furnish any material or labor for ... any building ... by virtue of any contract with the owner, the owner's agent, trustee, contractor, or subcontractor shall have a lien upon such building or improvement, and land belonging to the owner on which the same is situated"

Iowa Code § 572.2(1) (2005) (emphasis added). The phrase "owner's agent,

trustee" was removed from § 572.2(1) in 2007. 2007 Ia. Legis. Serv. Ch. 83, H.F. 774, § 3.

Section 572.2(1) was again amended in 2012 to add "owner-builder" to the list of contracting partners giving rise to a mechanic's lien and to clarify that both a general contractor and a subcontractor could be a contracting partner. See 2012 Ia. Legis. Serv. Ch. 1105, H.F.675, §3. The statute now requires the mechanic's lienholder to have a contract with the owner, owner-builder, its general contractor, or its subcontractor and grants a lien on the building or improvement for which material or labor was provided pursuant to the identified contract. With respect to land, the lien attaches only to that "land belonging to the owner on which the [building] is situated". § 572.2(1).

The legislature also made significant changes to the definition of "owner" in Section 572.1(8). Prior to the 2007 amendment, owner "included every person for whose use or benefit any building, erection, or other improvement is made, having the capacity to contract, including guardians." Iowa Code § 572.1(3)(2005). In 2007, the definition of "owner" was amended to "mean the record titleholder", retaining the phrase "and every person for whose benefit any building, erection, or other improvements is made" 2007 Ia. Legis. Serv. Ch. 83, H.F. 774, § 2. The definition was again changed in 2012, eliminating the phrase about benefited persons and leaving owner to be defined simply as: "the legal or equitable

titleholder of record." § 572.1(8)(2017); see 2012 Ia. Legis. Serv. Ch. 1105, H.F. 675, § 2.

These statutory amendments must be given meaning. As the Court recently explained, it "aim[s] to give meaning to the statutory changes the general assembly enacts." *Homan v. Branstad*, 887 N.W.2d 153, 166 (Iowa 2016)(citing *Davis v. State*, 682 N.W.2d 58, 61 (Iowa 2004)). "When an amendment to a statute adds or deletes words, a change in the law is presumed unless the remaining language amounts to the same thing.' When considering statutory amendments, [the Court] must assume that the general assembly 'sought to accomplish some purpose' and the amendment 'was not a futile exercise." *Id.* (quoting *Davis*, 682 N.W.2d at 61).

The statute at issue in *Homan* previously included the phrase "permanently established," but the phrase was removed in 1894. In considering whether the present version of the statute required the state to maintain state-owned mental hospitals, the Court was constrained by "the principles of statutory construction [to] conclude that the general assembly's omission of the phrase 'permanently established' in the Code after 1894 altered its meaning." *Homan*, 682 N.W.2d at 169. The Court "cannot read into the statute what [it] think[s] it ought to say," but is guided by "[w]hat the general assembly actually said". *Id.* at 169-70.

Appellants argue statutory amendments either modify or clarify prior statutory meaning. An example of a modification is found in *State v. Crone*, 545

N.W.2d 267, 273 (Iowa 1996), where the Supreme Court held an amendment in Iowa Code § 711.4 was "material because there is a distinct difference between 'monetary or pecuniary' value and 'anything' of value. The legislature must have intended to alter the scope of the statute by eliminating any limitation to monetary worth." *State ex rel. Schuder v. Schuder*, 578 N.W.2d 685, 687 (Iowa 1998) provides an example of a clarification, where adding language to a child support statute requiring an "equal and proportionate share" clarified prior law, which used the phrase "attributable to the child" without further defining how much was "attributable" to a particular child in a multi-child family.

Appellants argue the 2007 legislative changes were meant merely "to improve the process relating to filing, perfecting and foreclosing of mechanic's liens", identifying examples, including: the change from "time" to "date", requiring a lienholder to identify the "legal description" instead of the "correct description", and adding "record titleholder" to the definition of owner. (Winger Br. 21.) But Appellants offer no explanation of what the legislature could have been clarifying when it removed the term "owner's agent" from six different places it was used in Chapter 572².

² In addition to the section identified by Winger, H.F. 774 also removed the "owner's agent [or] trustee" language from other provisions of Chapter 572. *See* 2007 Ia. Legis. Serv. Ch. 83, H.F. 774, §2, amending § 572.1(5); §3, amending Iowa Code § 572.2(2); §4, amending Iowa Code § 572.8; §6, amending Iowa Code § 572.10; and §17, amending Iowa Code § 572.28.

Appellants argue the amendments to chapter 572 did not modify prior case law, under which a materialman could obtain a lien on a lessor's fee interest in its property based on the materialman's contract with the lessee if it could show the lessee improved the lessor's property under specific limited circumstances. But those cases relied on the "owner's agent" language in Section 572.2(1) that has been removed. In *Romp*, the lack of a contract between the materialman and lessor was not conclusive where the materialman had a contract with the lessee, which could satisfy the statutory language requiring a contract with the "owner's agent". Denniston & Partridge Co. v. Romp, 244 Iowa 204, 56 N.W.2d 601, 606 (1953) ("The terms of Code section 572.2, supra, are sufficiently met if the contract is made with an agent of the owner"). Where the materialman can show the lessee was contractually bound to erect the improvement and further satisfy the threefactor test adopted by the *Romp* Court, "the lessee [wa]s considered to be the agent of the lessor within the meaning of § 572.2" and the claimant's lien attached to the lessor's fee interest because the claimant had furnished material or labor by virtue of a contract with the owner's agent. Stroh Corp. v. K & S Dev. Corp., 247 N.W.2d 750, 752 (Iowa 1976).

Removing the very term that courts had relied on to hold a lessor's land subject to a lien based on a contract entered into by its lessee clearly alters the statute's meaning. It certainly cannot logically be said to "clarify" the statute to

support the *Romp* line of cases. Rather, removing "agent" from § 572.2(1) makes clear that a materialman must have a contract with the owner, not merely the owner's agent, before it is entitled to a lien on the owner's interest in the land.

Appellants' argument also ignores the significant amendments made to the definition of "owner" in Section 572.1(8). Excluding the phrase "every person for whose benefit the building ... is made" from the definition of "owner" and limiting it to the "legal or equitable titleholder of record" directly addresses the reasoning behind *Romp* and *Stroh. See Ringland-Johnson-Crowley Co. v. First Cent. Serv. Corp.*, 255 N.W.2d 149, 1450 (Iowa 1977) (definition of "owner" in § 572.1 relevant to agent analysis); *Knudson v. Bland*, 253 Iowa 614, 617-18, 113 N.W.2d 242, 244-45 (1962) (same). Following these amendments to the definition of "owner", the fact that a lessor "benefits" from a lessee's construction of a building on the lessor's land is no longer sufficient to make the lessor an "owner" of the building for purposes of attaching a mechanic's lien to the lessor's fee interest in the land.

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